IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC09-961

ANDREW RICHARD LUKEHART,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

Lower Tribunal Case No. 96-2645-CF

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Michael P. Reiter 5313 Layton Drive Venice, FL 34293 Fla. Bar #0320234 Attorney for Appellant (941) 445-5782

PRELIMENARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF CASE XI
STATEMENT OF FACTS 5
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
ISSUE I
WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING TRIAL COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO ATTACK LUKEHART'S PRIOR VIOLENT FELONY AGGRAVATOR IN VIOLATION THE FOURTH, FIFTH, SIXTH, AND EIGHTH CONSTITUTIONAL AMENDMENTS?
ISSUE II
WHETHER COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO LEARN THE EFFECTS OF THE MEDICATION LUKEHART WAS TAKING, INFORMING THE COURT AND THE JURY, IF NECESSRY, THAT LUKEHART WAS ON MEDICATION AND EXPLAINING ITS EFFECTS, MOTIONING THAT THE MEDICATION CEASE, AND REQUESTING A CONTINUANCE IN VIOLATION OF LUKEHART'S FOURTH, FIFTH, SIXTH, AND EIGHTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION?
ISSUE III
WHETHER THE POSTCONVICTION COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT APPELLANT'S COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO CALL KROP IN THE GUILT PHASE OF THE TRIAL IN VIOLATION OF APPELLANT'S FIFTH, SIXTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION?

ISSUE IV

	WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S AMENDED POSTCONVICTION MOTION TO RELATE BACK TO THE FILING OF HIS SHELL MOTION?
ISS	SUE V
	WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE BY FAILING TO ESTABLISH THAT APPLLANT'S STATEMENTS WERE ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE IN VIOLATION OF THE FOURTH, FIFTH, AND SIXTH AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTIUTION BECAUSE LAW ENFORCEMENT'S USE OF "BAKER ACT" WAS A PRETEXT TO OBTAIN CUSTODY AND DERIVE A STATEMENT WITHOUT THE PRESENCE OF AN ATTORNEY?
ISS	SUE VI
	WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IF FINDING THAT COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE BY FAILING TO PROPERLY ARGUE AND OBJECT TO JURY INSTRUCTIONS AND THE STATE'S IMPROPER ARGUMENTS REGARDING INSTRUCTIONS?
ISS	GUE VII
	WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE BECAUSE CALDWELL CLAIM WAS PROCEDURALLY BARRED?
ISS	SUE VIII
	WHETHER THE POSTCONVICTION COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND THAT APPELLANT'S COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE BY PRESENTING DEPOSITION TESTIMONY DURING THE PENALTY PHASE RATHER THAN LIVE TESTIMONY?

ISSUE IX

WHETHER THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO OBJECT TO IMPROPER COMMENTS BY THE PROSECUTOR DURING GUILT AND PENALTY PHASE ARGUMENT IN VIOLATION OF APPELLANT'S FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS?
ISSUE X
WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING NO MERIT TO LUKEHART'S CLAIM THAT HE WAS DENIED HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE FIRST, SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND THE CORRESPONDING PROVISIONS OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION AND IS DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL IN PURSUING HIS POST-CONVICTION REMEDIES BECAUSE OF THE RULES PROHIBITING LUKEHART'S LAWYERS FROM INTERVIEWING JURORS TO DETERMINE IF CONSTITUTIONAL ERROR WAS PRESENT?
ISSUE XI
WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING LUKEHART'S CLAIM THAT HE IS DENIED HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND UNDER THE CORRESPONDING PROVISIONS OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION BECAUSE EXECUTION BY ELECTROCUTION AND LETHAL INJECTION ARE CRUEL AND/OR UNUSUAL PUNISHMENTS? 96
ISSUE XII
WHETHER LUKEHART'S TRIAL COURT PROCEEDINGS WERE FRAUGHT WITH PROCEDURAL AND SUBSTANTIVE ERRORS, WHICH CANNOT BE HARMLESS WHEN VIEWED AS A WHOLE SINCE THE COMBINATION OF ERRORS DEPRIVED HIM OF THE FUNDAMENTALLY FAIR TRIAL GUARANTEED UNDER THE SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS?
CONCLUSION AND RELIEF SOUGHT