In the Supreme Court of Florida

## ANDREW RICHARD LUKEHART,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC09-961

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.\_\_\_\_/

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 COUNSEL FOR THE STATE

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

## ISSUE I

Lukehart claims his attorney was ineffective for not relitigating his guilt of the underlying felony child abuse conviction used to establish the prior violent felony aggravator in this capital case. IB at 21. Counsel was not ineffective. Counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to do something that the law prohibits. Counsel at the penalty phase of a capital trial may not relitigating his client's guilt of the underlying felony. Counsel can attack the weight using the facts of the underlying crime but not its existence. Nor was there any prejudice. Lukehart's claim of actual innocence of the underlying conviction is not a compelling one. The jury would have found that Lukehart was guilty of the prior conviction and therefore, the prior violent felony aggravator. Thus, the trial court properly this claim of ineffectiveness following an evidentiary hearing.

## ISSUE II

Lukehart asserts for the first time on appeal that counsel was ineffective for failing to file a motion requesting that the medication of Sinequan, Vistaril and Mellaril be stopped. IB at 34. This claim is not preserved. It was not raised in the 3.851 motion and Lukehart did not obtain a ruling from the trial court on the matter. Nor was the issue developed at the evidentiary hearing. Lukehart did not present a medical doctor at the evidentiary hearing to establish that the medications were not appropriate. This claim of ineffectiveness is sheer speculation. This Court has repeatedly

- 9 -

observed that claims of ineffectiveness may not be based on mere conjecture. This claim is not preserved and this Court should not entertain it for the first time on appeal.

## ISSUE III

Lukehart contends that counsel was ineffective for not presenting Dr. Krop to testify as to Lukehart's intermittent explosive disorder at the guilt phase. IB at 45. There was no deficient performance. Dr. Krop would not have been allowed to testify at the guilt phase regarding this type of diminished capacity defense. Counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to present a defense that is prohibited by law. Moreover, there was no prejudice. Even if Dr. Krop had been allowed to testify in the guilt phase, the jury still would have convicted Lukehart of murder. The trial court properly denied this claim following an evidentiary hearing.

## ISSUE IV

Lukehart contends that the trial court erred in striking his shell motion because it was filed before the effective date of rule 3.851 and therefore, the prior version of the rule governed his case. IB at 55. First, this issue is not preserved. Moreover, trial courts have the discretion to require litigants to abide by a new version of the rule, that will shortly be effective, when the new rule is designed to cure abuses that occurred under the prior verison of the rule. Additionally, shell motions, while a common practice, were not proper even under the old version of the rule. Nor is there any prejudice. Lukehart's post-conviction motion was not deemed untimely and he was allowed to amend his fully pled motion. Nor will

- 10 -

Lukehart's federal habeas petition be rendered untimely. Thus, the trial court properly required Lukehart file a fully pled post-conviction motion.

# ISSUE V

Lukehart asserts trial counsel was ineffective for failing to include an argument that the officer violated a Baker Act policy in the motion to suppress Lukehart's confession. IB at 60. This claim fails for lack of proof. Although granted an evidentiary hearing on this claim, post-conviction counsel did not introduce the policy into evidence at the evidentiary hearing. There was no deficient performance. Counsel filed a motion to suppress. Moreover, there was no prejudice. The exclusionary rule does not apply to a violation of local policy. So, the motion to suppress would not have been granted on the basis of a violation of a local policy regarding the Baker Act. Thus, the trial court properly denied this claim of ineffectiveness for not making an additional argument in the motion to suppress that counsel filed.

## ISSUE VI

Lukehart claims that counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the felony murder instruction regarding the intent required. IB at 69. There was no deficient performance. The jury instructions were proper statements of the law. Felony murder with aggravated child abuse as the underlying felony does not require an intent to kill, only an intent to commit aggravated child abuse. There was no basis for any objection. Nor was there any prejudice. Any objection would have been properly overruled. Thus, the trial court properly

- 11 -

determined that counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the felony murder jury instructions.

## ISSUE VII

Lukehart claims that counsel was ineffective for not objecting, on the basis of *Caldwell v. Mississippi*, 472 U.S. 320, 105 S.Ct. 2633, 86 L.Ed.2d 231 (1985), to the jury instructions informing the jury that their sentencing recommendation was advisory. IB at 75. This Court has repeatedly held that counsel is not ineffective for not making *Caldwell* objections. Thus, the trial court properly summarily denied this claim of ineffectiveness.

## ISSUE VIII

Lukehart contends that counsel was ineffective for presenting an uncle, two aunts, and two cousins' testimony via deposition at the penalty phase rather than live. IB at 78. This claim is limited to Lukehart's cousin, Stephanie Repko's testimony. There was no deficient performance. There was no prejudice either. Repko's testimony at the evidentiary hearing was largely cumulative to her deposition testimony. Thus, the trial court properly denied this claim of ineffectiveness.

## ISSUE IX

Lukehart asserts that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the prosecutor's comments in guilt and penalty phase. IB at 88. There was no deficient performance. Most of the prosecutor's comments were proper and therefore, there was no basis for defense counsel to object. Thus, the trial court properly denied

- 12 -

this claim of ineffectiveness for failing to object to the prosecutor's comments.

## ISSUE X

Lukehart asserts that the rule regulating the Florida Bar, rule 4-3.5(d)(4), which prohibits counsel from conducting juror interviews violates due process and equal protection. IB at 93. This issue is procedurally barred. Additionally, this Court has repeatedly rejected this claim. Thus, the trial court properly summarily denied this claim.

## ISSUE XI

Lukehart asserts that Florida's lethal injection protocols are cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the Eighth Amendment. IB at 96. Both the United States Supreme Court and this Court have rejected Eighth Amendment challenges to lethal injection. Thus, the trial court properly summarily denied this claim.

## ISSUE XII

Lukehart asserts that the number and types of errors when "considered as a whole" rendered his trial fundamentally unfair. IB at 98. This Court should not permit cumulative error claims. Furthermore, even if cumulative error analysis was proper, Lukehart may not add direct appeal issues and post-conviction issues cumulatively. Finally, there was no ineffectiveness and therefore, no cumulative error. Thus, the trial court properly denied this claim of cumulative error.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVENESS FOR FAILING TO ATTACK THE UNDERLYING FELONY CONVICTION USED AS THE PRIOR VIOLENT FELONY AGGRAVATOR? (Restated)

Lukehart claims his attorney was ineffective for not relitigating his guilt of the underlying felony child abuse conviction used to establish the prior violent felony aggravator in this capital case. IB at 21. Counsel was not ineffective. Counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to do something that the law prohibits. Counsel at the penalty phase of a capital trial may not relitigating his client's guilt of the underlying felony. Counsel can attack the weight using the facts of the underlying crime but not its existence. Nor was there any prejudice. Lukehart's claim of actual innocence of the underlying conviction is not a compelling one. The jury would have found that Lukehart was guilty of the prior conviction and therefore, the prior violent felony aggravator. Thus, the trial court properly this claim of ineffectiveness following an evidentiary hearing.

# Standard of review<sup>1</sup>

The standard of review is *de novo*. *Morris* v. *State*, 931 So.2d 821, 828 (Fla. 2006)(explaining that "when reviewing a trial court's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Because most of the remaining claims are ineffectiveness claims, the standard of review is the same for these issues. In the interest of brevity, the standard of review will not be repeated for each issue.

ruling after an evidentiary hearing on an ineffective assistance claim, this Court gives deference to the trial court's factual findings to the extent they are supported by competent, substantial evidence, but reviews *de novo* the trial court's determinations of deficiency and prejudice, which are mixed questions of fact and law.").

# Ineffectiveness<sup>2</sup>

As this Court explained in Ferrell v. State, 918 So.2d 163, 169-170

(Fla. 2005):

. . . to prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show that trial counsel's performance was deficient and that the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant so as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial. Τn reviewing counsel's performance, the reviewing court must be highly deferential to counsel, and in assessing the performance, every effort must "be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time." As to the first prong, the defendant must establish that "counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." For the prejudice prong, the reviewing court must determine whether there is a reasonable probability that, but for the deficiency, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. "Unless a defendant makes both showings, it cannot be said that the conviction or death sentence resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable."

 $<sup>^2\,</sup>$  Because most of the remaining claims are ineffectiveness claims, the legal standard is the same. In the interest of brevity, the legal standard for ineffectiveness will not be repeated for each issue.

Ferrell, 918 So.2d at 169-170 (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) and Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 123 S.Ct. 2527, 156 L.Ed.2d 471 (2003)).

The Eleventh Circuit, in an en banc decision, discussed the performance prong of Strickland. Chandler v. United States, 218 F.3d 1305 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2000) (en banc). The *Chandler* Court noted that the cases in which habeas petitioners can properly prevail are few and far The standard for counsel's performance is reasonableness between. under prevailing professional norms. The purpose of ineffectiveness review is not to grade counsel's performance; rather, the purpose is to determine whether the adversarial process at trial, in fact, worked adequately. Representation is an art, and an act or omission that is unprofessional in one case may be sound or even brilliant in another. Different lawyers have different gifts; this fact, as well as differing circumstances from case to case, means the range of what might be a reasonable approach at trial must be broad. To state the obvious: the trial lawyers, in every case, could have done something more or something different. So, omissions are inevitable. Counsel does not enjoy the benefit of unlimited time and resources. Every counsel is faced with a zero-sum calculation on time, resources, and defenses to pursue at trial. Thus, no absolute duty exists to investigate particular facts or a certain line of defense. And counsel need not always investigate before pursuing or not pursuing a line of defense. Investigation (even a nonexhaustive, preliminary investigation) is not required for counsel reasonably to decline to investigate a line of defense thoroughly. For example, counsel's

- 16 -

reliance on particular lines of defense to the exclusion of others--whether or not he investigated those other defenses -- is a matter of strategy and is not ineffective unless the petitioner can prove the chosen course, in itself, was unreasonable. Because the reasonableness of counsel's acts (including what investigations are reasonable) depends critically upon information supplied by the petitioner or the petitioner's own statements or actions, evidence of a petitioner's statements and acts in dealing with counsel is highly relevant to ineffective assistance claims. Counsel is not required to present every non-frivolous defense; nor is counsel required to present all mitigation evidence, even if the additional mitigation evidence would not have been incompatible with counsel's strategy. Considering the realities of the courtroom, more is not always better. Stacking defenses can hurt a case. Good advocacy requires winnowing out some arguments, witnesses, evidence, and so on, to stress others. No absolute duty exists to introduce mitigating or character evidence. The reasonableness of a counsel's performance is an objective inquiry. Because the standard is an objective one, that trial counsel admits his performance was deficient matters little. When courts are examining the performance of an experienced trial counsel, the presumption that his conduct was reasonable is even stronger. Even the very best lawyer could have a bad day. No one's conduct is above the reasonableness inquiry. Just as we know that an inexperienced lawyer can be competent, so we recognize that an experienced lawyer may, on occasion, act incompetently. However, experience is due some respect. No

- 17 -

absolute rules dictate what is reasonable performance for lawyers. The law must allow for bold and for innovative approaches by trial lawyers. And, the Sixth Amendment is not meant to improve the quality of legal representation, but simply to ensure that criminal defendants receive a fair trial. These principles guide the courts on the question of reasonableness, the touchstone of a lawyer's performance under the Constitution. *Chandler*, 218 F.3d at 1312-1319.

Trial counsel, Mr. Michael L. Edwards, testified at the evidentiary hearing regarding his experience; his trial preparation and strategy in this case. (E.H. May 10, 2007 at 73-149). He had worked as a public defender for six months and then worked at the State Attorney's Office as a prosecutor for three (3) years. (E.H. May 10, In the State Attorney's Office, he worked as a 2007 at 73-149). misdemeanor prosecutor for nine months and then as a felony prosecutor. (E.H. May 10, 2007 at 75). He prosecuted "murder cases, attempted murder cases and major crimes." He has tried over twenty cases in which the State was seeking the death penalty. (E.H. May 10, 2007 at 76). Of those twenty capital cases, he handled probably eight to ten cases prior to handling Lukehart's case. (E.H. May 10, 2007 at 75). He was successful in getting the State to waive the death penalty in all but four of these capital cases. He had tried two capital cases that went to a penalty phase prior to handling Mr. Lukehart's case. (E.H. May 10, 2007 at 76). He tried Mr. Lukehart's case without co-counsel because that was the policy at the time. (E.H. May 10, 2007 at 77). While he has no independent recollection of consulting with the prior attorney involved in the case, Assistant

- 18 -

Public Defender Mr. Buzzell, it was his policy to consult with the prior attorney.

#### Evidentiary hearing testimony

At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Edwards testified that he discussed the prior conviction with Lukehart and was aware Lukehart had denied committing that crime. (E.H. May 10, 2007 at 115-116). He discussed the prior conviction with the attorney who handled the case. (E.H. May 10, 2007 at 121). That attorney informed Mr. Edwards that she had told Mr. Lukehart that he had a good chance of acquittal based upon Brenda Page's deposition testimony and her advice was not to enter a plea. (E.H. May 10, 2007 at 121). He obtained the PD's file in the prior conviction case. (E.H. May 10, 2007 at 114). He read the file including the psychological report and the lawyer's notes. The file also reflected that Lukehart admitted the charged offense to the mother of the infant and that he had harmed the infant on prior occasions. (E.H. May 10, 2007 at 117). Although trial counsel presented this attorney at the penalty phase, he did not ask her her opinion of Lukehart's chances of acquittal during her testimony. Counsel was concerned that if he presented the theory that it was actually Monica Plummer who harmed the infant to mitigate the aggravator, this admitted but uncharged child abuse would come out as well.

#### The trial court's ruling

In subclaim twelve the Defendant alleges trial counsel was ineffective for not attacking his prior felony conviction. It

appears the Defendant is asserting that trial counsel should have retried his quilt of the underlying conviction used as an aggravator in the penalty phase of this trial. This is residual doubt as to the aggravator. Florida does not recognize residual doubt, much less residual doubt as to the aggravators. Williamson v. State, 961 So. 2d 229 (Fla. 2007) (noting that the "Court has held that residual or lingering doubt ... is not an appropriate matter to be raised in mitigation during the penalty phase proceedings of a capital case" citing Rose v. State, 675 So. 2d 567, 572 n. 5 (Fla. 1996)); Reynolds v. State, 934 So. 2d 1128, 1152 (Fla. 2006)(concluding that the trial court "appropriately excluded evidence offered to establish residual or lingering doubt from consideration when making its sentencing determination"). A capital defendant has no constitutional right to present lingering doubt evidence at the penalty phase. Abdul-Kabir v. Quarterman, 127 S.Ct. 1654, 1667 (2007) (noting "we have never held that capital defendants have an Eighth Amendment right to present 'residual doubt' evidence at sentencing citing Oregon v. Guzek, 546 U.S. 517, 523-527 (2006)).<sup>3</sup> Counsel's performance cannot be found deficient for failing to do what is legally impermissible. Melton v. State, 949 So. 2d 994, 1006 (Fla. 2006) (rejecting a claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to chase down leads that would have acquitted him of the conviction used as a prior violent felony aggravator because "it is clear that this conviction is final and was properly invoked as an aggravator."). Additionally, trial counsel fully investigated the issue. At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Edwards testified that he discussed the prior conviction with the Defendant, and was aware the Defendant denied committing that crime. (E.H. Vol. I at 115-116.) Trial counsel discussed the prior conviction with the attorney who handled that case, and was informed she had told the Defendant he had a good chance of acquittal, and advised him not to enter a plea. (E.H. Vol. I at 121.) Trial counsel also obtained the Public Defender's file in the prior conviction case, and read the file including the psychological report and the lawyer's notes. (E.H. Vol. I at 114.) After reviewing the file regarding the prior conviction and discussing the case with the Public Defender who handled the case, trial counsel concluded that the Defendant's plea had been knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently entered. (E.H. Vol. I at 122.) Trial counsel testified that there was no basis to set aside the plea, and he has an ethical obligation not to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> A defendant may not rechallenge the legal validity of a prior conviction used as an aggravator merely because it was used as an aggravator. *Daniels v. United States*, 532 U.S. 374, 382 (2001) (holding 'a prior conviction used to enhance a federal sentence is no longer open to direct or collateral attack in its own right because the defendant failed to pursue those remedies while they were available (or because the defendant did so unsuccessfully)").

file frivolous motions. (E.H. Vol. I at 122-123.) The Defendant's twelfth subclaim for relief is denied.

#### Merits

There was no deficient performance. Post-conviction counsel asserts that trial counsel should have either filed a 3.850 motion attacking the prior conviction or relitigated Lukehart's guilt regarding the prior conviction for felony child abuse during the penalty phase of this case. Neither option was available to counsel as a matter of law.

Counsel is not authorize to file a post-conviction motions attacking the prior conviction. Cf. State v. Kilgore, 976 So.2d 1066, 1068 (Fla. 2007)(holding that CCRC could not represent defendant in challenging prior non-capital conviction used as aggravating circumstance in a capital case). While Lukehart was entitled to attack his prior conviction pro se, an attorney appointed to represent a defendant in a capital case does not have a duty to file 3.850 motions attacking a prior conviction that will be used as an aggravator. They are not authorized to do so. Being charged with a capital case does not create a right to counsel in the postconviction process of a non-capital case that will be used as an aggravator.

Furthermore, counsel is not permitted to relitigate a prior conviction during the penalty phase of a capital trial. *Melton v. State*, 949 So.2d 994, 1005 (Fla. 2006)(agreeing with the State that "Melton may not relitigate the Saylor murder conviction in these proceedings" in a case where the defendant was challenging in this

- 21 -

Court an underlying murder conviction used as an aggravator which had been affirmed by the First District in both the direct appeal and post-conviction and never vacated). None of the testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing regarding Lukehart's prior conviction would have been admissible in the penalty phase of this case. This is a residual doubt regarding a prior conviction used as an aggravator. And Florida law does not permit residual doubt, much less residual doubt as to an aggravator. Williamson v. State, 961 So.2d 229, 237 (Fla. 2007) (noting that this "Court has held that residual or lingering doubt ... is not an appropriate matter to be raised in mitigation during the penalty phase proceedings of a capital case."); See also Oregon v. Guzek, 546 U.S. 517, 126 S.Ct. 1226, 163 L.Ed.2d 1112 (2006). Counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to present a defense that is precluded as a matter of law. Cf. Evans v. State, 946 So.2d 1, 11 (Fla. 2006)(explaining that trial counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to present a defense that does not exist). Counsel can attack the weight of the aggravator using the facts of the underlying crime but not its existence.

Postconviction counsel is really raising an ineffectiveness for not pursuing a *Johnson v. Mississippi*, 486 U.S. 578, 108 S.Ct. 1981, 100 L.Ed.2d 575 (1988) claim. However, as this Court has explained, a legitimate *Johnson* claim requires that the underlying conviction has been set aside. *Nixon v. State*, 932 So.2d 1009, 1023 (Fla. 2006)(rejecting a claim when the defendant asserted that the two prior felonies used to support the prior violent felony aggravator were invalid "because the prior violent felonies used in Nixon's case have

- 22 -

not been vacated and are still valid convictions" citing Buenoano v. State, 708 So.2d 941, 952 (Fla. 1998)); Bundy v. State, 538 So.2d 445, 447 (Fla. 1989)(concluding that Johnson provided no basis for relief because the validity of Bundy's Utah conviction of aggravated kidnapping, which was a basis for the finding of a prior violent felony, had not been challenged citing Straight v. State, 488 So.2d 530 (Fla. 1986)). This is equally true of an ineffectiveness claim. To raise a valid ineffectiveness claim for not pursuing a Johnson claim, the underlying conviction must have been vacated by a court. Lukehart's underlying felony child abuse conviction has never been vacated.

Nor is there any prejudice. Even if counsel were miraculously allowed to relitigate Lukehart's guilt of the underlying conviction used as the prior violent felony aggravator in direct contravention of Florida law, the jury would not have recommended life based on that testimony. The jury in this case would have still found that Lukehart committed the underlying felony. Lukehart has no reasonable explanation for why he pled guilty to the prior child abuse charge if he did not commit the offense. The mother of the first of Lukehart's two infant victims, who may well have also been abusive to Jullian, was not home at the time. It was Lukehart who was with the eight-month-old infant, Jillian French, when she suffered the The first victim, another infant, sustained a closed head injuries. injury resulting in seizures and visual deficits. Lukehart, 776 So.2d Moreover, this jury would not have been a very receptive at 926. audience to an actual innocence claim regarding the prior conviction.

- 23 -

The jury simply would have concluded that Lukehart has a propensity to severely injure infants. Lukehart would have to have a much better claim of innocence than the testimony of a friend that the mother was also abusive to the infant. The mother being abusive and neglectful of the child does not preclude Lukehart from also being abusive to the child. Brenda Page's testimony simply is not the caliber of testimony that Lukehart would need to present to convince this jury that he actually did not commit the prior offense. Lukehart's claim of actual innocence regarding the prior child abuse conviction is not a very compelling one. There was no prejudice.

Post-conviction's reliance on Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. 374, 125 S.Ct. 2456, 162 L.Ed.2d 360 (2005), is misplaced. The Court in Rompilla held that counsel was ineffective for failing to make reasonable efforts to review the court file on the defendant's prior conviction which contained mitigation. Here, counsel's testimony regarding his investigation of the prior conviction at the evidentiary hearing was clear. He did investigate the prior conviction both by obtaining the Public Defender's file regarding the felony child abuse conviction and speaking with the attorney who handled the case. Counsel investigated the prior conviction. There certainly was no violation of Rompilla.

Postconviction counsel's reliance on ABA standards is also misplaced. IB at 23. The United States Supreme Court has recently clarified that the ABA guidelines are just that - guidelines, not mandates. In *Bobby v. Van Hook*, 558 U. S. -, 130 S.Ct. 13, 2009 WL 3712013 (Nov. 9, 2009), the United States Supreme Court concluded that

- 24 -

counsel was not ineffective at penalty phase for failing to investigate and present mitigating evidence. The Court explained that the "prevailing professional norms" standard was "necessarily a general one" and there was "[n]o particular set of detailed rules for counsel's conduct. . . " Restatements of professional standards, can be useful as "guides" "but only to the extent they describe the professional norms prevailing when the representation took place." Regarding the Sixth Circuit's reliance on the ABA's Guidelines, the Court observed that they had improperly treated the guidelines "as inexorable commands with which all capital defense counsel must fully comply." But the Court explained, the ABA's Guidelines are "only guides to what reasonableness means, not its definition." The Court explained that, while states and private organizations are free to impose whatever specific rules they see fit, the Constitution "imposes one general requirement: that counsel make objectively reasonable choices." Van Hook, 558 U.S. -, -, 2009 WL 3712013 at \* 3. Such guidelines "must not be so detailed that they would interfere with the constitutionally protected independence of counsel and restrict the wide latitude counsel must have in making tactical decisions." Van Hook, 130 S.Ct at 17, n.1.

Accordingly, the trial court properly denied this claim following an evidentiary hearing.

#### ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVENESS FOR FAILING TO FILE A MOTION TO CEASE LUKEHART'S MEDICATION AND A MOTION FOR CONTINUANCE? (Restated)

Lukehart asserts for the first time on appeal that counsel was ineffective for failing to file a motion requesting that the medication of Sinequan, Vistaril and Mellaril be stopped. IB at 34. This claim is not preserved. It was not raised in the 3.851 motion and Lukehart did not obtain a ruling from the trial court on the matter. Nor was the issue developed at the evidentiary hearing. Lukehart did not present a medical doctor at the evidentiary hearing to establish that the medications were not appropriate. This claim of ineffectiveness is sheer speculation. This Court has repeatedly observed that claims of ineffectiveness may not be based on mere conjecture. This claim is not preserved and this Court should not entertain it for the first time on appeal.

# Evidentiary hearing

At the evidentiary hearing, counsel testified that he was aware that Lukehart was being medicated but did not know the particular drugs or the side effects of the drugs. Dr. Barry Crown testified that Lukehart was being given Sinequan, Vistaril, and Mellaril.

#### Preservation

This issue is not preserved. This Court does not permit claims to be raised on appeal that were not included in the post-conviction

- 26 -

motion filed below. Hutchinson v. State, 17 So. 3d 696, 703, n.5 (Fla. 2009) (refusing to address a claim of ineffectiveness that was not included in the post-conviction motion and being raised for the first time in its current version on appeal citing Connor v. State, 979 So.2d 852, 866 (Fla. 2007) (because the confrontation issue was not raised in defendant's postconviction motion, the issue could not be heard for the first time on appeal of the postconviction motion); Bates v. State, 3 So.3d 1091, 1103, n. 6 (Fla. 2009) (refusing to address a claim of ineffectiveness relating to a Brady claim that was not included in the post-conviction motion and was being raised for the first time on appeal, where the Brady claim was made in the post-conviction motion but the related ineffectiveness claim was not); Griffin v. State, 866 So.2d 1, 11 n. 5 (Fla. 2003) (finding that postconviction claim raised for the first time on appeal was procedurally barred where the defendant raised a new basis for his claim of ineffectiveness for not filing a motion to disqualify citing Doyle v. State, 526 So.2d 909, 911 (Fla. 1988)).

Nor did Lukehart obtain a ruling on the matter. Jones v. State, 998 So.2d 573, 581 (Fla. 2008)(finding a claim not preserved because the party did not obtain a ruling from the judge citing *Rhodes v*. State, 986 So.2d 501, 513 (Fla. 2008), modified, 986 So.2d 560 (Fla. 2008). There is no ruling for this Court to review.

Postconviction counsel's reliance on Florida rule of civil procedure 1.190(b), is misplaced. It is rule 3.851(f)(4) that governs amendments to postconviction motions in capital cases. That rule prohibits amendments to the post-conviction motion 30 days before the evidentiary hearing. The rule certainly does not permit unilateral amendments after the evidentiary hearing. Moreover, the rule governing amendments requires that good cause be shown for any amendment. The rule requires that any motion to amend set "forth the reason the claim was not raised earlier." Post-conviction counsel provides no reason, good or otherwise, to explain why this claim was not included in the post-conviction motion or the amended post-conviction motion.

This Court has condemned the practice of piecemeal supplementation of capital post-conviction motions. *Doorbal v. State*, 983 So.2d 464, 485 (Fla. 2008)(concluding that "Doorbal's amended motion contains the type of post-*Huff* hearing piecemeal supplementation that we condemned in *Vining*").<sup>4</sup> Postconviction counsel attempts to evade this caselaw by asserting that rule 3.851 does not apply because the original post-conviction motion, that was stricken by the trial court, was filed before the effective date of rule 3.851. IB at 34 n.5. However, this caselaw applies regardless of whether rule 3.850 or rule 3.851 applies to this case or not. *Vining* was a pre-3.851 rule case. The post-conviction motion at issue in *Vining* was filed in 1996. *Vining*, 827 So.2d at 207. Lukehart may not engage in this untimely, unilateral, piecemeal amending of his postconviction motion under either rule.

Moreover, the State does object to the expansion. IB at 36. The State does not consent, either expressly or by implication, to this

 $<sup>^4</sup>$  Vining v. State, 827 So.2d 201, 212 (Fla. 2002).

claim being raised for the first time on appeal. This Court has expressed frustration on numerous occasions when the State objects to the presentation of evidence at capital evidentiary hearing. This Court has a stated preference for the evidence to be presented at the evidentiary hearing and then addressing legal arguments regarding that evidence's appropriateness later. So, the fact that the Assistant Attorney General does not object at the evidentiary hearing to certain questions has no significance. If this Court allows the State's silence to be interpreted as an implied consent to an amendments to the pleadings, the State will certainly start objecting to every question that could possibly open the door to that type of abuse.

#### Waiver

This claim of ineffectiveness is waived. Lukehart did not call the medical doctors who prescribed the Sinequan, Vistaril, and Mellaril at the evidentiary hearing. There was no testimony regarding the dosage given to Lukehart or any actual side effects that Lukehart may have experienced. The medical charts relating to these medications were not introduced. Dr. Crown only testified to possible side effects, not Lukehart's actual side effects.

# Merits

Counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to file a motion to cease medication because of the side effects if there were no side effects in Lukehart's particular case. This claim of ineffectiveness is pure

- 29 -

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